IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 16-0435

CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

MARLA MARIE LEAF,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF LINN COUNTY
NO. CRCISC214393
HON. PATRICK R. GRADY, JUDGE

PROOF BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT (AMENDED)

James C. Larew AT0004543
LAREW LAW OFFICE
504 E. Bloomington Street
Iowa City, IA 52245
Telephone: 319.337.7079
E-mail:
james.larew@larewlawoffice.com

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. **THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE CITY HAD PROVEN THE VIOLATION BY CLEAR, SATISFACTORY, AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE**

Lewis v. Jaeger, 818 N.W.2d 165, 175 (Iowa 2012)

Hensler v. City of Davenport, 790 N.W.2d 569, 589 (Iowa 2010)

City of Davenport v. Seymour, 755 N.W.2d 533, 542 (Iowa 2008)

II. **THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE ORDINANCE DID NOT UNLAWFULLY GRANT JURISDICTION TO THE ADMINISTRATIVE BOARD OR HEARING OFFICER**

City of Sioux City v. Jacobsma, 862 N.W.2d 335, 339 (Iowa 2015)

Cedar Rapids Municipal Code § 61.138

Iowa Code §§ 364.22(4), (6)

Iowa Code § 602.6101

City of Davenport v. Seymour, 755 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Iowa 2008)

Goodell v. Humboldt County, 575 N.W.2d 486, 502 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa City v. Westinghouse Learning Corp., 264 N.W.2d 771, 773 (Iowa 1978)

Iowa Administrative Code § 761-144.1, 4, 6

III. **THE CITY HAS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DELEGATED POLICE POWER TO GATSO USA, INC.**

Star Equip., Ltd. v. State, 843 N.W.2d 446, 451 (Iowa 2014)

In the Interest of C.S., 516 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1983)

IOWA CONST., art. III, § 1

Warren Cty. Bd. of Health v. Warren Cty. Bd. of Supervisors, 654 N.W.2d 910, 913-14 (Iowa 2002)

City of Hollywood v. Arem, 154 So. 3d 359, 364-65 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2014)

Bunger v. Iowa High Sch. Athletic Asso., 197 N.W.2d 555, 562-63 (Iowa 1972)

IV. **THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE ORDINANCE DID NOT VIOLATE THE IOWA CONSTITUTION'S DUE PROCESS CLAUSE**

Star Equip., Ltd. v. State, 843 N.W.2d 446, 451 (Iowa 2014)

IOWA CONST., art. I, § 9

Bowers v. Polk Cty. Bd. of Supervisors, 638 N.W.2d 682, 690-91 (Iowa 2002)

Iowa Code § 364.22(6)(a)

Sindlinger v. Iowa State Bd. Of Regents, 503 N.W.2d 387, 390 (Iowa 1993)

Ghost Player, L.L.C. v. State, 860 N.W.2d 323, 330 (Iowa 2015)

Williams v. Redlfox Traffic Sys., 582 F.3d 617, 621 (6th Cir. 2009)

Holm v. Iowa Dist. Court, 767 N.W.2d 409, 417-18 (Iowa 2009)

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976)

City of Sioux City v. Jacobsma, 862 N.W.2d 335, 345 (Iowa 2015)

Booker v. City of St. Paul, 762 F.3d 730, 735-36 (8th Cir. 2014)

Botsko v. Davenport Civ. Rights Comm'n, 774 N.W.2d 841, 848 (Iowa 2009)

Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 47 (1975)

Rose v. Village of Peninsula, 875 F. Supp. 442, 448-453 (N.D. Ohio 1995)

Ward v. Monroeville, 409 U.S. 57 (1972)

State ex rel. Miller v. Smokers Warehouse Corp., 737 N.W.2d 107, 111 (Iowa 2007)

Zaber v. City of Dubuque, 789 N.W.2d 634, 640 (Iowa 2010)

Formaro v. Polk Cty., 773 N.W.2d 834, 839 (Iowa 2009)

Saenz v. Roe, 526 U.S. 489, 500 (1999)

Bray v. Alexandria Women's Health Clinic, 506 U.S. 263, 277 (1993)

Iowa Admin. Code § 144.4(1)(c)

State v. Klawonn, 609 N.W.2d 515, 519 (Iowa 2000)

ACCO Unlimited Corp. v. City of Johnston, 611 N.W.2d 506, 510 (Iowa 2000)

Bakken v. Council Bluffs, 470 N.W.2d 34, 38 (Iowa 1991)

Blumenthal Inv. Trs. v. City of W. Des Moines, 636 N.W.2d 255, 265-66 (Iowa 2001)

Chesterfield Dev. Corp. v. Chestfield, 963 F.2d 1102, 1105 (8th Cir. 1992)

Idris v. City of Chicago, 552 F.3d 564 (7th Cir. 2009)

Minnesota v. Kuhlman, 729 N.W.2d 577 (2007)

State v. Ross, 2003 Iowa App. LEXIS 42, at *12 (Iowa Ct. App. Jan. 15, 2003)

United States v. Hare, 308 F. Supp. 2d 955, 1001 (D. Neb. 2004)

Mem'l Hosp. v. Maricopa Cty., 415 U.S. 250, 257-60 (1974)

Shapiro v. Thompson, 394 U.S. 618 (1969)

Dunn v. Blumstein, 405 U.S. 330 (1977)

Morgan v. Virginia, 328 U.S. 373, 380-81 (1946)

City of Panora v. Simmons, 445 N.W.2d 363, 371 (Iowa 1989)

V. **EQUAL PROTECTION IS VIOLATED WHERE THE CLASSIFICATIONS MADE ARE NOT RELATED TO THE PURPOSE OF THE ORDINANCE**

Homan v. Branstad, 812 N.W.2d 623, 629 (Iowa 2012)

IOWA CONST., art. I, § 6

Gartner v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health, 830 N.W.2d 335, 350-51 (Iowa 2013)

Racing Ass'n of Cent. Iowa v. Fitzgerald, 675 N.W.2d 1, 7-8 (Iowa 2004)

King v. State, 818 N.W.2d 1, 25-26 (Iowa 2012)

Wright v. Iowa Dep't of Corr., 747 N.W.2d 213, 216 (Iowa 2008)

Gallagher v. City of Clayton, 699 F.3d 1013, 1020 (8th Cir. 2012)

VI. **PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES ARE VIOLATED BY THE ORDINANCE'S INFRINGEMENT UPON A FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT**

Homan v. Branstad, 812 N.W.2d 623, 629 (Iowa 2012)

IOWA CONST., art. I § 6

Utilicorp United v. State Utils. Bd., Utils. Div., DOC, 570 N.W.2d 451, 455 (Iowa 1997)

King v. State, 818 N.W.2d 1, 65 (Iowa 2012)

Articles of Confederation of 1781, art. IV, para.1

Zobel v. Williams, 457 U.S. 55, 79-80 (1982)

Pencak v. Concealed Weapon Licensing Bd, 872 F. Supp. 410, 414 (E.D. Mich. 1994)

State v. Cuypers, 559 N.W. 2d 435, 437 (Minn. Ct. App. 1997)

State v. Burnett, 755 N.E.2d 857, 865 (Ohio 2001)

Brandmiller v. Arreola, 544 N.W.2d 894, 899 (Wis. 1996)

State v. Holbach, 763 N.W.2d 761, 765 (N.D. 2009)

Treacy v. Municipality of Anchorage, 91 P. 3d 252, 264-65 (Alaska 2004)

In re White, 158 Cal. Rptr. 562, 566-67 (Ct. App. 1979)

In re Marriage of Guffin, 209 P.3d 225, 227-28 (Mont. 2009)

Watt v. Watt, 971 P.2d 608, 615 (Wyo. 1999)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Defendant-Appellant (“Ms. Leaf” or “Marla Leaf”) asserts that this case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court based on the “substantial constitutional questions” presented as to the validity of so-called automated traffic enforcement (“ATE”) provisions of Cedar Rapids Municipal Code section 61.138 (“Ordinance”) implemented by Plaintiff-Appellee Cedar Rapids (“City”). Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a). In addition, Ms. Leaf raises issues and presents arguments of first impression concerning municipal ATE ordinance enforcement on interstate highways located within a City’s jurisdictional limits, thereby affecting the rights and interests of thousands of unfamiliar vehicle owners, as well as the limitations of powers of that city. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). The public importance of considering these issues weighs in favor of retention pursuant to Iowa Rules of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2)(d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case raises fundamental questions about: a municipality’s ability to impose fines upon members of the traveling public on a segment of federal interstate highway, under an ATE Ordinance, over the objection of the state agency with jurisdiction over that roadway; the limitations of a local government’s ability to delegate its core police functions, involving discretionary decisions resulting in the imposition of millions of dollars of civil

penalties, to Gatso, USA, Inc., (“Gatso”), a private for-profit corporation with a contingent fee interest in collecting such penalties; and the minimum protections of the Iowa Constitution afforded to the traveling public, involving due process, equal protection, and privileges and immunities. Ms. Leaf, who has been prosecuted under the City’s Ordinance, has suffered the adverse results of these violations, both procedurally and substantively—results that, by this appeal, she prays this Court will reverse.

Ms. Leaf’s case, standing alone, may seem insignificant to some: it constitutes one \$75.00 penalty that she believes should not have been imposed, with court costs now to \$195.00. But, the injustice experienced by her is not trivial, when viewed in a larger context. At the very location where the City alleges she violated its Ordinance—I-380 Southbound J Avenue Exit—tens of thousands of people, each year, suffered a similar fate and were issued Violation citations: 44,775 in 2011; 38,052 in 2012 and 44,529 in 2013. (App. 00113).

The contested Ordinance was passed in 2009 and involved, in part, placing fixed radar and camera equipment at four locations on interstate highway I-380, affixed to trusses owned by the Iowa Department of Transportation (“IDOT”). In the latter months of 2013, and in the beginning of 2014, the IDOT issued a series of administrative rules applicable to ATE laws on primary and interstate highways in Iowa. It subsequently evaluated,

found lawfully-deficient, and ruled that ATE equipment at the interstate locations—including on I-380 Southbound at J Avenue—must be removed by the city.

Ms. Leaf was issued a Notice of Violation by Gatso, under the City's logo, because she owned a vehicle that allegedly had been operated in violation of the Ordinance at that location, on February 5, 2015. (App. 00021). Ms. Leaf believed that the allegation was false and immediately contested it. (App. 00016-00017, App. 00025-00026). A Gatso employee directed her to attend an administrative hearing, on March 4, 2015, at 7:00 p.m. (App. 00025-00026). Despite her objection due to a scheduling conflict, a brief hearing was held and she was informed by the Hearing Officer that she was "guilty" and would "need to pay the fine." (App. 00018-00019). The Hearing Officer's Order indicated that the decision had been made upon a "preponderance of the evidence." (App. 00124-00125).

Ms. Leaf contested the decision, and, in response to her filing a required form, the City, as Plaintiff, filed a lawsuit against Ms. Leaf, as Defendant, on March 31, 2015, in the Iowa District Court for Linn County. (App. 00001-00002). Ms. Leaf filed an Answer on April 8, 2015. (Appearance and Answer of Defendant Marla Marie Leaf). An Affidavit of Service of the Municipal Infraction was filed on April 14, 2015, with a cost of \$35.00. (Affidavit of Service).

Magistrate Judge Marty Hagge convened the trial on May 26, 2015. Ms. Leaf's Motion to Dismiss (App. 00006-00013), was denied. (App. 00146). Upon the conclusion of the City's evidence, Ms. Leaf moved the Court to direct a verdict in her favor. (App. 00081). That motion, too, was denied. On August 4, 2015, Magistrate Hagge entered an Order finding Ms. Leaf liable for violating the City's Ordinance. (App. 00146-00149).

To that Order, and, pursuant to Iowa Code sections 364.22(6)(a) and 631.13, Ms. Leaf filed a Notice of Appeal to the Iowa District Court on August 11, 2015. (Notice of Appeal, August 11, 2015). The parties submitted the appeal on briefs (Ms. Leaf on December 8, 2015; the City on December 29, 2015). Ms. Leaf also filed a Motion to Submit Additional Exhibit, which included the "Bad Debt" reference on Ms. Leaf's online record maintained by Gatso. (App. 00150-00153). On January 6, 2016, Ms. Leaf's Motion was denied. Ms. Leaf filed a Reply Brief on January 11, 2016.

On February 9, 2016, the Iowa District Court for Linn County, sitting in its appellate capacity, the Honorable Patrick J. Grady, presiding, ruled that the City had proven by clear, convincing and satisfactory evidence that Ms. Leaf had violated the City's ATE Ordinance. (App. 00157). The district court further held that the City had properly exercised power under its home rule authority in passing the Ordinance and, therefore, the Ordinance had not unconstitutionally granted jurisdiction to the Administrative Board. (App.

00158-00159). The district court held that the Ordinance was not unconstitutional based on the due process, equal protection, and privileges and immunities challenges that Ms. Leaf had advanced. (App. 00158-00163). Finally, the district court held that the City had not unlawfully delegated its police power to Gatso. (App. 00163).

Defendant-Appellant Marla Leaf filed an Application for Discretionary Review on March 8, 2016, which was granted on April 1, 2016. This appeal follows. (App. 00166-00178).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ms. Leaf is 65 years old. (App. 00024). A resident of the City, she is the registered owner of a 2012 Ford Mustang, license plate number 190 WQR. (App. 00017, App. 00039). Ms. Leaf has driven for more than 50 years. (App. 00024). Prior to February 5, 2015, she had never before received a moving traffic violation. (App. 00024).

The City, in Linn County, is an Iowa municipal corporation. In 2009, its City Council promulgated section 61.138 in the Municipal Code of Ordinances pursuant to its police powers. Under it, the City assesses civil penalties against vehicle owners whose vehicles are alleged to have violated the Ordinance's red

light and speed provisions.¹ A segment of interstate highway I-380 runs through the City. To implement the Ordinance thereon, the City and Gatso have permanently fixed camera-radar equipment on overhanging trusses owned by the IDOT at four locations (two for northbound traffic; two for southbound traffic) in a manner that only captures images of rear license plates, omitting the prosecution of millions of semi-trucks that travel through Cedar Rapids. (App. 00009-00010; App. 00111). That is because rear license plate numbers, normally affixed to trailers being hauled, are not included in the so-called NLET's database, which is the sole source of information utilized by Gatso and the City to identify motor vehicle owners. (App. 00010). The same database omits the license plate numbers of certain government vehicles (in Iowa, alone, there are more than 3,000) whose owners have been issued special license plates. (App. 00111; App. 00010).

A. The Ordinance Implementation and the IDOT's Administrative Rules

In February 2014, the IDOT, pursuant to Iowa Code § 307.10(15), as approved by the Iowa Transportation Commission, published a series of Administrative Rules at IAC 761-144. (App. 00090). The Rules apply to “local

¹The Ordinance allows for enforcement of *speed* limits at certain fixed-radar and mobile-unit-radar locations, with fines specified by the Ordinance. It also allows for *red-light running* enforcement. This case involves—and, therefore, the focus of all arguments is upon—the enforcement of the Ordinance's speed provisions as applied to fixed-radar locations on interstate highway I-380.

jurisdictions using or planning to use [ATE] on the primary road system,” which includes the state’s interstate highways. Iowa Admin. Code § 761.144.4(2)(a). Two provisions implicate the City’s unlawful use of ATE equipment at I-380 Southbound at J Avenue:

- a. Iowa Administrative Code § 761—144.6(1)(b)(10), directs that ATE cameras shall, “not be placed within the first 1,000 feet of a lower speed limit.”
- b. Iowa Administrative Code § 761—144.6(4), directs that ATE equipment must be calibrated, at least quarterly, to “ensure accuracy and reliability,” independent of the ATE equipment’s owner, by “a local law enforcement officer”).

(App. 00090). The radar camera equipment fixed at I-380 J Avenue Exit is only 896 feet beyond the sign that reduces the speed limit from 60 mph to 55 mph. (App. 00095).

According to a document presented by the City at Trial, and objected-to by Ms. Leaf (the creator of the document was not present at trial), on June 24, 2014, *more than seven months* prior to Ms. Leaf’s alleged infraction, one of Gatso’s employees, Robert Ortega, and not a local officer, calibrated the radar unit (but not the camera) fixed above Lane 2 on I-380 Southbound at J Avenue. (App. 00132).

B. The Alleged Violation of the ATE Ordinance

On February 5, 2015, Ms. Leaf drove her Ford Mustang, returning home with Billy Heeren, her former husband and now companion, from an eye examination at an office located on the northerly edge of Cedar Rapids, traveling southbound on I-380, in the direction of the J Avenue Exit. (App. 00024).

Ms. Leaf was driving very cautiously because, earlier that day, when traveling northerly on I-380, she and Mr. Heeren had observed the glare of ice and very slick conditions resulting in accidents involving southbound traffic. (App. 00026). The slippery conditions had been confirmed with others at the eye doctor's office; while there, Ms. Leaf had texted her son a road condition report, warning him of slick roads and accidents on I-380 Southbound. (App. 00027). As a result, upon the return trip on I-380 Southbound, with ice still on the surface, Ms. Leaf drove slower than a lot of the other vehicles, who were passing her on both sides. (App. 00027-00029). She recalls that, as she approached the J Avenue Exit, she was traveling between 50 and 55 m.p.h. (App. 00027-00028, App. 00037).

The speed limit at that location is 55 m.p.h. (App. 00023-00024). Ms. Leaf's passenger, Mr. Heeren, at trial, testified that the conditions of the highway had been slippery, that Ms. Leaf had proceeded carefully, and that she had been traveling between 50 and 55 m.p.h. in the J Avenue exit vicinity.

(App. 00081-00087).

C. The Administrative Hearing

Sometime after Gatso's radar had computed Ms. Leaf's vehicle's speed and cameras had taken photographs of her vehicle, Gatso electronically forwarded information about that "event" to the City's police department. (App. 00150-00151; App. 00045). On some undocumented date, Officer Harvey Caldwell reviewed the information and confirmed identifying license plate and registration information about Ms. Leaf's vehicle. (App. 00045). He did not independently calculate the speed of Ms. Leaf's vehicle; rather, he merely confirmed that Gatso's calculated speed was at least 12 miles per hour over the posted speed limit. (App. 00045-00046, App. 00051).

Neither Officer Caldwell nor any other City employees has ever calibrated Gatso's equipment. (App. 00053-00054). Upon reviewing the electronically-transmitted "event" information from Gatso, Officer Caldwell signed a sworn "Certificate," in his capacity as "Approver," ostensibly attesting that Ms. Leaf's vehicle was operated in violation of the City's Ordinance. (App. 00045-00046).

Gatso issues documents, under the City's logo, styled as "Notice of Violation." (App. 00077). Several weeks after Ms. Leaf's February 5 trip, she received by mail such a document, alleging that, on February 5, 2015, the vehicle owned by her, traveling on I-380 Southbound near J Avenue, at Lane 2,

had been moving at 68 m.p.h. in a 55 m.p.h. zone. (App. 00120-00121). Ms. Leaf believed there had been some mistake; she knew she had not been speeding on that occasion. (App. 00029).

The Notice of Violation threatened adverse credit reporting agency reports for unpaid civil penalties.. (App. 00120-00121). The Notice of Violation informed Ms. Leaf of the five defenses recognized under the Ordinance. (App. 00029).

It directed that, to contest the Violation, she must call a designated telephone number or go online to schedule an administrative hearing. (App. 00121). The Notice of Violation did not inform Ms. Leaf of her ability to wage her contest directly in the Iowa District Court. (App. 00120-00121).

The Gatso employee who answered Ms. Leaf's call said that the only administrative hearing date and time available would be March 4, 2015, at 7:30 p.m., to be held at the Cedar Rapids Police Department, even though Ms. Leaf informed the employee that it would not be possible for her to attend a hearing at that time because of a family commitment. (App. 00029000-30).

On February 19, 2015, Ms. Leaf wrote a personal letter to the Chief of the Cedar Rapids Police Department, asking for another time to hold the administrative proceeding. (App. 00133-00135; App. 00029-00030). She inquired as to why the hearing could not be held during "regular business hours," so that she could attend. (App. 00133-00135; App. 00030-00032). She

sent the request by certified mail. She received no response. (App. 00133-00135; App. 00030-00032).

The administrative hearing process is conducted by a so-called, “Administrative Body,” chaired by an “Administrative Hearing Officer.” (App. 00124-00125). That person is not appointed by any publicly-accountable official. Rather, he or she is typically a friend of, and is appointed by, police officers. (App. 00072-00073).

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