SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
Plaintiff-Appellee City of Cedar Rapids (“City”), for the first time on
appeal, argues that “[t]his case commenced as a municipal infraction filed by
the City in small claims court on March 31, 2015.” Proof Brief of PlaintiffAppellee (“Appellee Brief”), p. 1. The City has never expressly argued that the
Notice of Violation issued by Gatso USA, Inc. (“Gatso”) did not initiate the
City’s case against Defendant-Appellant Marla Leaf (“Ms. Leaf”). In fact, as
part of the “appeal” to Magistrate Marty Hagge in small claims, in support of
its case against Ms. Leaf, the City presented documentary and testimonial
evidence of the Notice of Violation issued to Ms. Leaf and the Administrative
Hearing Order to enforce the City’s ATE Ordinance. (App. 00017-00022).
Following the issuance of the Administrative Hearing Officer’s Order, Ms. Leaf
was then told how to “appeal” that decision. (App. 00066-00067). And she did
so.
Contrastingly, now, the City premises many of its arguments on the
entirely new framework: that the Notice of Violation of Cedar Rapids
Municipal Code section 61.138 (“Ordinance”) does not constitute a municipal
infraction until the City initiates the process in Small Claims Court. Appellee
Brief, pp. 1, 7, 18, 19, 25, 26, 28, 34, 36, 37, 48, 53. This is an untenable
position, made demonstrably false by a straightforward analysis of
1

unambiguous language in the Code of Iowa and the Cedar Rapids Code of
Ordinances.
First, Iowa Code section 364.22 sets forth clear procedural requirements
for any City attempting to enforce municipal infractions. Iowa Code §
364.22(6). Second, the City Code unambiguously states that a violation of an
ordinance is a municipal infraction. Cedar Rapids (“C.R.”) Mun. Code § 1.12
(“any violation of a city ordinance, city code . . . constitutes a municipal
infraction”). Third, the City enacts Cedar Rapids Municipal Code section
61.138 (“Ordinance”), which Ms. Leaf is alleged to have violated. Finally,
whether Ms. Leaf contests the violation of a city ordinance in front of an
administrative hearing officer or, upon an appeal of an administrative Order to
a magistrate judge, contesting the City’s issuance of a civil penalty following an
alleged violation of the Ordinance is a “municipal infraction.”
Not only does the City’s new argument defy the law, it does not appear
to have been preserved in the way it is currently articulated. Without waiving
said objection, it is even clearer that the City’s lawyers may not, in effect,
amend its Code of Ordinances in an appellate brief. Rather, clearly, the
Ordinance’s enforcement process began when Ms. Leaf, in February of 2015,
was informed, through Gatso’s issuance of a mailed Notice of Violation to her,
that a vehicle owned by her had allegedly been operated at an unlawful speed.
This commencement was then followed by an “Order” from an Administrative
2

Hearing Officer, based upon the “preponderance of evidence” obtained in the
course of a telephonic hearing. The Hearing Officer’s Order purported to have
the power of enforcement of the City’s Ordinance. But, here, on appeal, the
City protests that the enforcement process “commenced” only in Small Claims
Court.
As a procedural matter, Ms. Leaf inadvertently left out her description of
the preservation of issues, as required by Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure
6.903(g)(1), and as noted by the City (Appellee Brief, p. 7). While Ms. Leaf does
not believe that preservation of these issues is seriously disputed, other than
unjust enrichment, which she expressly therefore did not address in her
opening Brief, Ms. Leaf will address the preservation of the six key issues raised
on appeal in order. Ms. Leaf will then briefly respond to the City’s arguments
within each section.
ARGUMENT
I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE CITY HAD
PROVEN THE VIOLATION BY CLEAR, SATISFACTORY, AND
CONVINCING EVIDENCE
A.

Preservation of Error

Ms. Leaf argued both in small claims court and on appeal to the district
court that the City failed to provide “clear, satisfactory and convincing
evidence” that she had been speeding on February 5, 2015. Appellant’s Brief to
Iowa District Court (“D.C. Brief”), pp. 15-19; App. 00067, 00081-00082.
3

B.

Ms. Leaf was Not Speeding and Hearsay Cannot be Used to
Prove a key Element of the Case; the ATE System was
Inaccurate

The City presents a variety of arguments with respect to the accuracy of
the “Safety” (and sometimes “Speed”) Cameras calibrated by Gatso. Appellee
Brief, pp. 9-16. The City touts that the “Speed Camera also performs a self-test
daily to ensure the system is operating properly.” Appellee Brief, p. 10. A “selftest,” however, is not what is required by Iowa law to ensure accuracy of the
radar calculating vehicle owners’ liability. Iowa Admin. Code § 761-144.6(4).
Next, the City alleges that Cedar Rapids Police Department Officer
Asplund (“Officer Asplund”) testified about calibration and other issues
without any objection from Ms. Leaf. Appellee Brief, p. 10. This is untrue. At
each moment the City attempted to enter into evidence documents through
Officer Asplund that were drafted by Gatso regarding the calibration or
maintenance of the ATE equipment, Ms. Leaf’s counsel objected. App. 0005900060, 00062-00063. This evidence was hearsay. The City then argues that
small claims has relaxed standards of hearsay, citing GE Money Bank v. Morales,
773 N.W.2d 533, 539 (Iowa 2009). Appellee Brief, p. 13. The City ignores,
however, that while rules of hearsay may be relaxed in certain instances, they
cannot be for the main (and in this case, only disputed) element of the case.
The case cited by the City indicates exactly that: “[t]o require a party to bring in
additional witnesses to testify upon matters not necessary for the resolution
4

of the case would be contrary to the policies of speedy and economical justice
in a small claims proceeding.” GE Money Bank, 773 N.W.2d at 539 (emphasis
added). The Iowa Supreme Court in Morales further cited Iowa Code section
631.11(4), which described the judge’s function in small claims proceedings
where the standard was a “preponderance of the evidence,” which is
undisputedly not the standard applicable to Ms. Leaf’s case. Id. The Morales
standard therefore clearly supports Ms. Leaf’s position that only hearsay was
presented to support the claim that Ms. Leaf was exceeding the speed limit on
I-380. 1
The City tries to avoid this by claiming an exception to hearsay: that the
annual calibration and Statement of Technology documents drafted by Gatso
were business records. Appellee Brief, p. 12. The City cannot benefit from an
exception to the hearsay rule where it is attempting to produce Gatso
documents, and not its own. Officer Asplund was not the custodian of these
documents, and did not testify as to the process for producing or storing this
information at Gatso. See Iowa R. Evid. 5.803(6) (“all as shown by the
Presumably in an attempt to avoid this unfair self-fulfilling hearsay, Tennessee
has amended its statute on ATE by disallowing the use of traffic camera
“evidence” for right turn red-light violations where there is no sign marking the
“No Turn on Red.” See Am. Traffic Solutions, Inc. v. City of Knoxville, 2013 Tenn.
App. LEXIS 686, *4 (Tenn. Ct. App. Oct. 18, 2013) (citing Tennessee Code
Annotated § 55-8-198(i)).
1
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testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness”); see also Appellee Brief, p.
12 (“calibrations are done on a regular basis as part of Gatso’s business”). The
City offered no evidence to support the proposition that it kept the calibration
documents in the regular course of its business. See Morales, 773 N.W.2d at 538
(summarizing that a “business record is admissible if it can be shown it was
made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with
knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity”)
(citation omitted). The calibration document was created almost a year prior to
Ms. Leaf’s trial, and the City does not keep it. In fact, the City noted that many
of the documents sought by Ms. Leaf in her pre-trial subpoena were in Gatso’s
possession, and therefore the City could not readily comply. App. 00014. The
City cannot now claim that it keeps these documents in the regular course of its
business, or that Gatso’s documents are entitled to the business records
exception by the City.
In attempting to buttress the questionable accuracy of its ATE, the City
responds to Ms. Leaf’s argument regarding the “significant” effect of the angle
of the radar by ignoring its own business judgment rule. The City’s business
judgment rule does not enforce the speed limit, but rather, considers a violation
of the Ordinance only when 12 mph in excess of a posted speed limit. App.
00045-00046 (Officer Caldwell confirms that he checks that the vehicle is
allegedly traveling more than 12 mph over the speed limit when reviewing a
6

Notice of Violation). Therefore, while Officer Asplund recognized that the
angle of the radar would unlikely affect the speed reading by as much as 12
mph, Ms. Leaf was cited for going 13 mph over the speed limit. Appellee Brief,
p. 15. That is only one mile per hour over the speed at which one is considered
to have violated the Ordinance. In addition to accepted error rates for radars,
any additional effect from the angle of it would therefore be significant. The
amount of the fine would also be affected based on even a difference of one
mph. See C.R. Mun. Code § 61.138(d) (showing the fine increasing from $50 to
$75 based on difference between 10 and 11 mph over limit). In fact, even in
describing calibration documents, Officer Asplund noted the radar being off by
.3 mph without knowing anything about the angle. App. 00063. Officer
Asplund believed the angle might be 45 feet down, or ahead, or 45 degrees.
App. 00077-00078. There can be no guarantee of accuracy where neither the
angle is verified or even model and number of the equipment being calibrated.
App. 00077. The City cannot therefore meet its burden of proof and Ms. Leaf’s
Motion for a Directed Verdict (App. 00081) should have been granted.

7

II.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE ORDINANCE
DID NOT UNLAWFULLY GRANT JURISDICTION TO THE
ADMINISTRATIVE BOARD OR HEARING OFFICER
A.

Preservation of Error

Ms. Leaf argued in all courts below that that the Ordinance unlawfully
granted jurisdiction to the Administrative Board or Hearing Officer and was
preempted by Iowa law. App. 00111-00112; D.C. Brief, pp. 20-26.
B.

The Ordinance is Irreconcilable with State and City Law

It is undisputed that the City enjoys home rule authority “to determine
their local affairs” to the extent that it is “not inconsistent with the laws of the
general assembly.” Iowa CONT., art. III, § 38A; Appellee Brief, p. 17. Not only
is the ATE Ordinance irreconcilable with State law, however, the City’s latest
arguments are also irreconcilable with its own law.
There can be no dispute that Iowa Code Section 364.22, defining the
process for prosecuting municipal infractions, applies to the City. Under the
City’s own definitions, a violation of an ordinance is defined as a municipal
infraction. See C.R. Mun. Code § 1.12 (“any violation of a city ordinance, city
code, or any section, subsection, paragraph, subparagraph, or any other part
thereof, constitutes a municipal infraction subject to all the penalties, and other
relief provisions set forth in Section 364.22, Iowa Code.”). Ms. Leaf was
prosecuted for violating the City’s Ordinance. C.R. Mun. Code § 61.138.

8

By directing vehicle owners such as Ms. Leaf to contest alleged
violations of the Ordinance through the administrative hearing process,
conducted by a person styled as an Administrative Hearing Officer, the City is
openly violating the provisions of Section 364.22, because such a person is not
a “magistrate, district judge, or district associate judge.” Iowa Code §
364.22(6)(a). The Notice of Violation issued by Gatso and sent to every alleged
violator makes it clear that if one wants to contest the citation, one must go to
an administrative hearing. See Ex. 1, p.2; App 121. Cedar Rapids police officers
may not require individuals to go through the administrative hearing process
(Appellee Brief, p. 18, citing App. 00065-00066), but Gatso employees,
unlawfully delegated police power, when called by vehicle owners using the
telephone number provided to them in the Notice of Violation, do. App.
00133. In fact, despite testimony in court, the City’s police officers have
otherwise admitted that one has to go directly to the administrative hearing to
contest a citation. See Your Traffic Camera Questions Answered, THE GAZETTE,
March 31, 2014, available at http://www.thegazette.com/2010/06/16/live-chaton-red-light-cameras-11-a-m-tuesday (“Lt. Jeff Hembera: When you receive a
notice of violation in the mail, there are instructions for either paying the
citation or appealing the citation. To appeal, you contact the company as stated
on the notice, and you will be given a time to appear at the Police Station to
meet with a Hearing Officer. If the Hearing Officer finds against you, you have
9

the final option of appealing to civil court.”). The City’s continued attempt to
confuse vehicle owners, force them into these administrative proceedings, and
then, in court pleadings, claim to the contrary, is disturbing, at best.
While not citing any authority, the City references the “City’s home rule
authority to provide administrative remedies” for “various municipal building,
housing, zoning, fire and nuisance abatement codes.” Appellee Brief, p. 18.
Presumably, however, these remedies were not internally inconsistent with
other municipal code provisions or directly irreconcilable with State law. For
instance, a violation of the City’s housing code can result in a prosecution “by
the filing of a misdemeanor citation or a citation for municipal infraction.” C.R.
Mun. Code § 29.09-106.4 (emphasis added). The City also expressly adopted
Iowa Code section 364.22 defining a municipal infraction as part of its zoning
ordinance, and provided express remedies and penalties for violations thereof.
C.R. Mun. Code §§ 32.08.080, 32.08.090. The allowance of alternative remedies
was specifically set forth in those provisions. Here, the City now implies that it
can distinguish between the “administrative option” and the “municipal
infraction process.” Appellee Brief, pp. 19-20. A municipal infraction, however,
is a violation of the Ordinance governed by Iowa Code section 364.22: one
cannot violate the Ordinance and be entitled to one remedy and then violate it
again (without any additional act) and be entitled to a different remedy. Iowa
Code section 364.22 applies to Gatso’s issuance of the Notices of Violation. Cf.
10

Appellee Brief, p. 19 (“[a] city by ordinance may provide that a violation of an
ordinance is a municipal infraction” (emphasis added by City)). The City has
done just that. The City, in the definition provisions of its Municipal Code, has
provided that a violation of its city code and ordinances is a municipal infraction
(and that Iowa Code section 364.22, defining the appropriate process, governs).
The City cannot skirt its own duties by arguing otherwise now.2 The City’s
desperate attempt to change the rules of the game after it (or Gatso) has forced
countless citizens to attend administrative hearings to defend against municipal
infractions is indefensible.
The City’s argument that the administrative hearing amounts to
concurrent jurisdiction with the Iowa District Court is also misplaced. Appellee
Brief, p. 19 (citing Hughes v. City of Cedar Rapids, 112 F. Supp. 3d 817, 849 (N.D.
Iowa 2015) (pending appeal)). Even assuming that the City 3 had the ability to
grant jurisdiction to a new entity, which Ms. Leaf disputes, the administrative

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